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1                     PROCEEDINGS

2 JUDGE ALBERS:  By the authority vested in me by

3 the Illinois Commerce Commission, I now call Docket 

4 No. 03-0499.  This docket was initiated by DCT 

5 Telecom Group, Inc.

6           The applicant seeks a certificate of 

7 interexchange authority under Section 13-404 of the 

8 Public Utilities Act.

9           May I have the appearances for the record,

10 please?

11 MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Patrick Crocker with the 

12 law firm of Early, Lennon, Crocker & Bartosiewicz --

13 that's B-a-r-t-o-s-i-e-w-i-c-z -- located at

14 900 Comerica Building -- that's C-o-m-e-r-i-c-a -- 

15 Kalamazoo, Michigan  49007, appearing on behalf of 

16 the applicant, Your Honor, with one witness today, 

17 Mr. J. Anthony Rehak.

18 JUDGE ALBERS:  Thank you.

19           Let the record reflect there are no others

20 wishing to enter an appearance.

21           Did you have any preliminary matters for 

22 the record, Mr. Crocker?
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1 MR. CROCKER:  Not at this time, Your Honor.

2 JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  If you'd like to call 

3 your witness, I'll swear him in then.

4 MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  I call Mr. Rehak.

5 JUDGE ALBERS:  Could you please stand and raise

6 your right hand, sir?

7 MR. REHAK:  Yes.

8                (Whereupon the witness was sworn by

9                Judge Albers.)

10 JUDGE ALBERS:  Go ahead, Mr. Crocker.

11 MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

12                   J. ANTHONY REHAK 

13 called as a witness herein, on behalf of the

14 Applicant,  having been first duly sworn on his 

15 oath, was examined and testified as follows:

16                  DIRECT EXAMINATION 

17 BY MR. CROCKER:

18 Q. Mr. Rehak, could you please state your name and

19 business address for the record?

20 A. Sure.  It is J. Anthony Rehak of DCT Telecom 

21 Group, Inc.  We're located at 27877 Clemens Road in 

22 West Lake, Ohio  44145.
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1 Q. And what is your occupation?

2 A. Vice president and partner.

3 Q. Okay.  Great.

4           And could you please state the purpose of 

5 your testimony today?

6 A. The purpose of my testimony is to give a 

7 description of our business and also to demonstrate 

8 our organization's financial, managerial, and 

9 technical experience in order to provide the Telecom

10 services that we're applying for.

11 Q. Great.

12           And could you please briefly describe the 

13 nature of the telecommunication service that DCT 

14 intends to offer customers in Illinois?

15 A. We plan to offer full range of one plus 

16 interexchange telecommunication services throughout 

17 the state to include outbound/inbound services and 

18 also calling card services.

19 Q. All right.  And in what state are you 

20 incorporated?

21 A. We are incorporated in the State of Ohio and 

22 that was on September 30, 1993.



6

1 Q. Okay.  And is the company authorized to 

2 transact business in Illinois?

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. Okay.  Could you please briefly describe your 

5 background and business?

6 A. Sure.

7           I entered the telecommunication industry 

8 in 1991; spent roughly about eight years with Cable 

9 and Wireless USA which was a division of Cable and 

10 Wireless PC, PLC rather, and I joined DCT Telecom 

11 Group, formerly known as Digital Communication 

12 Technologies, in July of 1998.

13           I joined my two business partners who are 

14 also part of the application process, Anthony Romano

15 and Michael Adamczyk.  They have 16 and 19 years 

16 industry experience as well.

17 Q. Okay.  You've touched on a few of the 

18 individuals that are involved with the company.

19           Could you identify the current management 

20 team and some of their responsibilities?

21 A. Sure.

22           As I mentioned, Anthony Romano is 
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1 president.  He's obviously essentially our chief 

2 executive officer who is the gentleman that has 19 

3 years of experience in the industry.

4           My other business partner is Michael 

5 Adamczyk who is secretary and treasurer of the 

6 company who has been in the business for 16 years, 

7 and as I mentioned earlier, I've been in the 

8 business for 12 years.  I'm the vice president.

9           The way that we run the business, we're 

10 actually equal partners in DCT Telecom group, a 

11 third, a third, a third.

12           In terms of responsibilities, we actually 

13 share the majority of the operational, customer 

14 service, and sales responsibilities evenly.

15 Q. Oh, that's interesting.

16           Do you intend to offer operator services 

17 in Illinois?

18 A. We do not initially, and certainly down the 

19 road if that makes sense, we'll come back and comply

20 with any Commission rules that pertain to that 

21 process.

22 Q. And what rates will DCT charge for services 
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1 provided to customers in Illinois?

2 A. We will provide the rates for the different 

3 telecom services that will be in accordance with the

4 terms and conditions that are set forth in our 

5 tariff.

6 Q. That's great.

7           Has the company's financial circumstances 

8 adversely changed since we have filed this 

9 application?

10 A. No.

11 Q. And as far as marketing, what verification 

12 method will the company utilize when verifying 

13 orders to change long distance service?

14 A. We will be following all the FCC's procedures 

15 to make sure that we verify the orders 

16 appropriately.

17 Q. Okay.  And what is the company's procedure for 

18 handling consumers complaints?  Do you have one of 

19 those?

20 A. I believe we have it detailed in the 

21 application.  I'm actually going to be, one of the 

22 reasons I'm on the call this morning, I'm going to 
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1 be the chief person responsible for all complaints 

2 and customer service escalations.

3 Q. You've raised the application testimony here.

4           Could you refer to question 13 of the 

5 application for me?

6 A. Sure.

7 Q. Could you tell me where Orem is located?

8 A. I believe that's a typo, and it should read 

9 Ohio.

10 MR. CROCKER:  That's right.

11           We'd like the record to reflect that the 

12 last word in reply to question 13 of the application

13 reads O-r-e-m.  It should actually read O-h-i-o, 

14 Ohio.

15 Q. And have you reviewed the application, 

16 Mr. Rehak?

17 A. Yes, I have.

18 Q. For the most part, do you see anything else in 

19 the application that is inaccurate?

20 A. No.  Everything else appears to be a hundred 

21 percent accurate.

22 Q. Okay.  Great.
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1           As far as, you know, you being in charge 

2 of customer service, does DCT have any slamming or 

3 cramming complaints filed against it in any 

4 jurisdiction?

5 A. We do not.

6 Q. Okay.  And do you intend to invoice your 

7 subscribers on a monthly basis?

8 A. Yes, we do.

9 Q. And will your name appear on the invoice?

10 A. Yes, it will.

11 MR. CROCKER:  Your Honor, I don't have any 

12 further questions at this time.

13 JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  I have some questions for

14 you, Mr. Rehak.

15                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

16 BY JUDGE ALBERS:

17 Q. You indicated that you applied for authority in

18 other states?

19 A. Yes, we have.

20 Q. Have you received authority since submitting 

21 the application in this jurisdiction?

22 A. I'm sorry, Your Honor.  You're saying for 
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1 Illinois or for other states?

2 Q. Other states.

3 A. Yes, we have.

4 Q. What states would those be?

5 A. I don't have the list in front of me.

6           We were initially looking to become 

7 tariffed in 12 states.  I know it's been approved in

8 at least Ohio; I believe Virginia, but as I 

9 mentioned, I don't happen to have that information

10 in front of me.  I certainly can get it to you if 

11 it's necessary.

12 Q. I just want to get a sense of where else you've

13 been offering business so far and for how long.

14 A. We're actually moving into I guess a bit of a 

15 transition.

16           As I mentioned, our business started in 

17 '93, and for ten years we've primarily been acting 

18 and operating as a telecommunications agents 

19 representing other carriers, so this process of 

20 moving into the reseller business is a relatively 

21 new one.

22 Q. Now, when you say an agent for other carriers, 
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1 could you describe what you did for them?

2 A. We were responsible for sales, marketing, and 

3 all the service, but in terms of actually billing 

4 the customer, that was the responsibility of the 

5 carrier directly.

6 Q. You worked with sales and what else for other 

7 carriers?

8 A. Sales, marketing, and customer service and the 

9 implementation of the service.

10           For example, as you can see from our 

11 application, we're going to be reselling Quest 

12 services.

13           For the past two years we've been a 

14 business partner of Quest, and to give you an 

15 example, we'd go out to ABC Company in Ohio, set 

16 them up with Quest services.  We'd be responsible 

17 for implementing the services, servicing the 

18 customer, but in terms of actually billing the 

19 customer and collecting revenue from the customer, 

20 that would actually be Quest's responsibility.

21           What we're starting and obviously part of 

22 our process with our application is we're making a 
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1 change in our business moving over to the reseller 

2 model in which we're going to be taking over the 

3 billing for the customer.

4 Q. Okay.  Well, forgive me for jumping around 

5 then but this strikes a thought or reminds of me of 

6 a thought I had when I reviewed your financial 

7 statements.

8           It appears, if I'm looking at this 

9 right...  First of all, the most recent ones for 

10 April 30, 2003, that's just for the first four 

11 months of 2003.  Normally you're on a 12-month cycle

12 ending December 31 of each year?

13 A. Correct.  Our financial or our fiscal years are

14 calendar years.

15 Q. Okay.  Now, these financial statements, do they

16 reflect of all of your business?

17 A. I'm sorry, Your Honor.

18 Q. Do the financial statements reflect all of your

19 business as opposed to just the regulated telecom 

20 side of things?

21 A. Yes.  The information that you're looking at, 

22 let me actually page through this to look at the 
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1 same information that you are, it should reflect all

2 of our businesses, yes.

3 Q. Okay.  Well, keep those documents handy.  I 

4 might come back to those later.

5 A. Sure.  Absolutely.

6 Q. What exactly did Cable and Wireless 

7 Communications do when the three of you worked for 

8 them?

9 A. Cable and Wireless, they've changed quite a bit

10 over the years, but the primary business when we all

11 worked for them -- not only did I obviously work for

12 them but my two business partners did -- they were a

13 U.S. based business-only long distance carrier. 

14 They essentially serviced the small to midsize 

15 business market for voice, data; then eventually 

16 going to Internet services in the U.S.

17           They have since ceased operations in some 

18 of those areas but back in the early '90s, that's 

19 the core business that we all sold.

20 Q. Okay.  And when the three of you worked at 

21 Cable and Wireless, you were in the sales marketing 

22 end of things?
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1 A. Correct.  We all started our careers at Cable 

2 and Wireless as sales people; got I guess promoted

3 through the ranks.

4           My one partner was the Midwest regional 

5 manager of the general business division.  My other 

6 partner was manager of the Detroit branch.  I also 

7 at a different period had the same position as one 

8 of my business partners, and I was the regional 

9 manager of the Midwest region for the general 

10 business division.

11 Q. While at Cable and Wireless or for that matter 

12 any other experiences you might have had, where did 

13 you or any of your partners gain technical 

14 experience with regard to telecommunications?

15 A. Frankly, I think we gained quite a bit at 

16 Cable and Wireless and after Cable and Wireless. 

17 Throughout the years at Cable and Wireless, the 

18 company was actually a real fine organization, and 

19 one of the areas that they did a good job in was 

20 training their people.  Technical training, 

21 management training, customer service training, you 

22 know, began at an early stage in all of our careers 
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1 and was pretty consistent throughout our tenure.

2           In addition to that, since we've all left 

3 Cable and Wireless and have been working for DCT, 

4 we've had different partnerships with other phone 

5 vendors that actually sell the phone systems and 

6 have participated in numerous trainings that they 

7 conducted.

8           In addition to that, we have represented 

9 about eight different of the major telephone 

10 companies in the U.S. such as Quest.  SBC is another

11 example, and those organizations required their 

12 independent agents to go to mandatory trainings as 

13 well.

14           So for me, speaking for myself personally 

15 over the past 12 years, I've been to countless 

16 trainings, not only technical but also different 

17 industry trainings to give us a good background on 

18 the necessary skill sets that we need to have to be 

19 successful and to take care of our customers.

20 Q. Okay.  And just to make sure we're both 

21 thinking in the same terms, when I say technical I'm

22 thinking of the literal nuts and bolts so to speak 
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1 of how the telecommunication system functions.

2 A. Absolutely.  In terms of if someone picks up 

3 the telephone, you know, what is the process by 

4 which that call gets from point A to point B and 

5 what's the terminology in between.

6 Q. Okay.  And all the equipment that's used, and 

7 if something goes wrong, where to look for the 

8 problem?

9 A. Exactly.  Frankly, I'm not an engineer. 

10 Neither are my two partners.  However, part of the 

11 partners that we have selected, Quest being the 

12 primary reseller that we're going to use or the 

13 company we're going to be reselling, part of their 

14 agreement is they give you a staff of technical 

15 people to work with in case there's a problem with 

16 the customer.

17           Not only all of my partners but also our 

18 in-house customer service managers are trained to 

19 troubleshoot customer problems.  I mean, we have, 

20 you know, over 40 years of experience dealing with 

21 any type of issues that may arise from a customer.

22 Q. Okay.  Do you still work with Warwick 
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1 Communications?

2 A. We do not.  We separated and ended our 

3 affiliation with them; it's coming to about two 

4 years ago.

5 Q. Now, if I read your application right, at one 

6 time you personally worked for them?

7 A. Correct.

8           What happened was when my two business 

9 partners started Digital Communication Technologies 

10 in 1993, the business was focused on selling and 

11 representing long distance carriers.

12           In order to enter the local exchange 

13 market in Ohio, it was necessary to partner with a 

14 different business, and my two business partners 

15 became employees of Warwick Communications because 

16 it allowed them to get access to sell SBC Ameritech 

17 services.

18           So for all intents and purposes, for the 

19 eight years that there was an overlap that DCT 

20 operated, they also operated and we operated as 

21 employees of Warwick Communications.

22 Q. So you no longer have any business 
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1 relationships with Warwick?

2 A. No.

3           One thing to clarify, my partners and I 

4 had an employment contract with them that expired 

5 two years ago.

6           However, what we did is we have maintained

7 a separation contract that goes on for seven years.

8           The primary purpose of that was to split 

9 the right to go to customers that we sold during our

10 tenure at Warwick, and we essentially split up the 

11 customers.

12           We created kind of a Warwick DCT list.  X 

13 customers we were allowed to go after.  X customers

14 they were allowed to go after.  That contract goes 

15 on for another five years.

16           In addition to that, we also have an 

17 aspect of the contract that has financial terms that

18 if commissions are charged back to Warwick from SBC 

19 that we collected that we would pay those 

20 commissions back.

21 Q. Okay.

22 A. I don't know if that answers your question.  I 
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1 mean, we're separated, but we still have a contract 

2 that goes on to, I guess to set up the rules of 

3 engagement for the next five years.

4 Q. Yeah, that answers my question.

5           With regard to the waiver of Part 710 that

6 you're seeking --

7 A. Let me get to that.  710?

8 Q. Yes.

9 A. Maybe I'm missing it here.

10 MR. CROCKER:  It's Paragraph 3 of the 

11 application.

12 JUDGE ALBERS:  The question is probably pretty 

13 straightforward.  I don't know if you need to refer 

14 to anything.

15           Basically I'm wondering, does DCT 

16 currently keep its books and records in accordance 

17 with generally accepted accounting principles?

18 A. Yes, we do.

19 Q. And if you were required to comply with 710, is

20 it simply a matter of viewing that second or 

21 separate set of books and records that comply with 

22 Part 710 as being an undue expense and unnecessary 
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1 effort?

2 A. Quite honestly, you know, I'm not familiar with

3 that.

4 MR. CROCKER:  That would be the argument, Your 

5 Honor.

6 JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  Just so the witness is 

7 clear what we're talking about, you are aware that 

8 Part 710 establishes the method of accounting for 

9 telecom carriers in Illinois?

10  THE WITNESS:  Right.  Okay.  I understand 

11 now.  Forgive me for a second.

12 Q. Okay.  And typically though, in the past the 

13 Commission has granted waivers from the requirements

14 of Part 710 as long as the carrier complies with 

15 GAAP.

16 A. I understand what you're saying, yes.

17 Q. And so you would consider then that if you had 

18 to keep two set of records, one in accordance with 

19 GAAP and one with 710...

20 A. It would be an additional expense that we'd 

21 like to avoid.

22 Q. Okay.  Now, with regard to the waiver of Part 
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1 735, you're seeking a waiver of all of Part 735.

2           Is that because you view that code part as

3 not applying to your type of business?

4 MR. CROCKER:  That would be our argument, Your 

5 Honor.

6 JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.

7           For Part 735, and I'll just tell you the 

8 title of it.  It's "Procedures governing the 

9 establishment of credit, billing, deposits, 

10 termination of service, and issuance of telephone 

11 directories for local exchange telecommunications 

12 carriers."

13           And so you want to offer interexchange 

14 service?

15 MR. CROCKER:  That's correct, Your Honor.

16 JUDGE ALBERS:  Was that Mr. Crocker or 

17 Mr. Rehak?

18 THE WITNESS:  That was Mr. Crocker but that's 

19 correct.

20 Q. Okay.  You've also asked for a waiver of Part 

21 735.180.

22           Would you agree that that seems redundant 
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1 in light of the waiver of Part 735?

2 A. Yes, it would.

3 Q. Okay.  In addition to offering resold 

4 interexchange service, does DCT intend to continue 

5 acting as an agent for other carriers?

6 A. Yes, we do.

7 Q. Would you be acting as an agent for other 

8 carriers in Illinois?

9 A. Yes, because we have existing customers that 

10 are currently with other vendors that we represent 

11 and we plan to leave them with those particular 

12 vendors.

13 Q. Okay.  Would you still be soliciting new 

14 customers on behalf of the other carriers?

15 A. It's unlikely but, you know, 99 percent of the 

16 business that we'd be soliciting in Illinois will be

17 for DCT Telecom Group.  It could -- let me give an 

18 example where a situation might come up.

19           We might have a customer that we're an 

20 agent for Quest, and the customer may open an office

21 in Illinois and perhaps they didn't previously have 

22 any office in Illinois.
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1           Typically what we do is we'll add a 

2 location to their existing long distance account, 

3 and through that process, obviously we'd need to 

4 service the customer and take care of that through 

5 their existing vendor.

6           That would probably be the only example 

7 where that may happen.

8 Q. Okay.  Otherwise though, any customers, any new

9 customers you solicit would be for DCT?

10 A. Correct.  I wouldn't say 100 percent but, you

11 know, 95 percent of them, yes.

12 Q. Okay.  How would you distinguish between which 

13 customers you want to sign up as DCT customers and 

14 which would sign up as carriers for which DCT is an 

15 agent?

16 A. There are situations that customers may not 

17 want to be with a reseller, and if we have an 

18 existing relationship or establish a new 

19 relationship with a company that has a corporate 

20 office in Ohio, we might have a salesperson that 

21 might go out and propose DCT long distance.

22           Let's assume they have a location in the 
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1 State of Illinois and they don't want to do business

2 with the reseller directly, they'd rather do 

3 business with the national carrier, one that we 

4 represent, in that scenario or situation, our rep 

5 would propose the carrier directly in the agent 

6 arena as opposed to the reseller model that we've 

7 been discussing.

8 Q. What are your regular working hours during 

9 which customers could call you for assistance?

10 A. We will have 24-hour customer service.  From 

11 8:30 to 5, our customer service staff is in-house 

12 and direct employees at DCT Telecom Group.

13           We have contracted with our billing

14 company to provide after hours customer service from

15 5 until 8:30 the next morning.

16           In that scenario, what we will do is 

17 redirect our toll-free numbers and our direct dial 

18 numbers to their call center that's located in 

19 Connecticut to service the customers.

20           This organization happens to have direct 

21 access to our billing software that exists in our 

22 company's service here in West Lake, and they're 
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1 also familiar with the software because it's their 

2 software.

3 Q. So from 5 to 8:30 if a customer calls, they'll

4 get the billing customer service from the company 

5 that takes care of billing?

6 A. Right.  They'll still respond.  They'll pick up

7 the phone and say "This is DCT Telecom Group."  We 

8 have a contract and we're outsourcing obviously, but

9 those folks that pick up the phone will be able to 

10 be intimately familiar with any customer issues and 

11 customer billing because they'll be able to look at 

12 the customer's account information online.

13 Q. And could they assist with technical issues as 

14 well?

15 A. Part of the process is they'll be able to 

16 refer...  What they'll do is they'll issue a trouble

17 ticket into our billing software.

18           Our customer service managers are going to

19 be tasked to look at that information throughout, 

20 you know, as soon as they come in the next morning, 

21 and we also are in the process of having an interval

22 check in which the customer service manager will 
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1 actually look throughout the evening as well.

2 Q. Okay.  What is the internal escalation process 

3 for a customer complaint to DCT?

4 A. Our current process, the way that we run our 

5 business is we want the salesperson who ultimately 

6 set up the relationship initially to be the initial 

7 point of contact.

8           In addition to that, there's also a 

9 customer service manager that is assigned to the 

10 account, so there's a teamed approach for every 

11 single customer we have.

12           If those individuals do not take care of a

13 customer's concern or question in an adequate 

14 fashion, it goes to either of my two partners or 

15 myself.

16 Q. Okay.  And if at that point it's not resolved, 

17 you then refer them to the Illinois Commerce 

18 Commission?

19 A. Absolutely.

20 Q. You mentioned earlier that you would abide by 

21 federal slamming and cramming laws.

22           Would you also abide by state slamming and
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1 cramming laws?

2 A. Absolutely.

3 Q. Have the financial statements you've provided 

4 been audited?

5 A. We do have an independent accounting firm, 

6 CBIZ.

7           The particular division of CBIZ that we 

8 work with is Spector & Salino.  In fact, I can 

9 actually give you the exact if you bear with me for 

10 a moment and let me grab my...

11           The organization, I'm not sure if you're 

12 familiar with this.  It's a national firm.  It's 

13 CBIZ.  It's Century Business Services.  They're 

14 located at 4040 Embassy Parkway, Suite 100, in 

15 Akron, Ohio  44333.

16           The CPA that is responsible for our 

17 particular account is David P. DiSalvo.   That's 

18 (D-i-S-a-l-v-o)

19 Q. Now, can you go ahead though and spell the 

20 Spector and Salino?

21 A. You know what, that was their old company name 

22 which I don't think that they even go by anymore. 
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1 The correct name for the company should be Century 

2 Business Services.

3 Q. Okay.  But since you mentioned it on the 

4 record, can you just spell it?

5 A. Spector is S-p-e-c-t-o-r.  Salino, quite 

6 honestly, your best guess is as good as mine.

7 Q. And so the financial statements have been 

8 audited by an independent auditor?

9 A. That is correct.

10 Q. Okay.  I guess one thing that caught my 

11 attention in the financial statements, I'll use the 

12 most recent one as an example.  There are a couple 

13 of sizeable loans made to yourself and Mr. Romano.

14 A. Okay.

15 Q. Can you describe the terms of those loans?

16 A. It was based on a decision at the end of the 

17 year for personal reasons.

18           The term is to have this corrected and 

19 repaid which it should be by the end of this 

20 calendar year.

21 Q. And I see someone drives a Porsche.

22 MR. CROCKER:  Yeah.  These are very revealing 
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1 financials actually.

2 JUDGE ALBERS:  They are.

3 MR. CROCKER:  You know, I don't generally see 

4 those kinds of financials.

5 Q. BY JUDGE ALBERS:  Since DCT began providing 

6 service as an agent in '93, can you tell me whether 

7 or not since '93 DCT has had a profit or a loss in 

8 each year?

9 A. I believe the majority of the years -- I can't 

10 speak for part of '98 because I wasn't associated 

11 with the business.  It's my understanding that up 

12 through last year, every year was a profit.

13           Last year we did have a small loss.  It 

14 was to the tune of maybe $10,000 or something. 

15 That's an estimation, but it was not a large number.

16 Q. Okay.

17 A. Part of it had to do with the fact we were 

18 involved in expansion into a new office, and we

19 purchased new office furniture.  We were in a growth

20 mode.

21 Q. Now, under travel and entertainment, are the 

22 Browns and Indians tickets for yourselves or for 
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1 clients?

2 A. For client entertainment.

3 Q. Okay.  All right.

4 A. In addition to that, it's also given out to 

5 employees for recognition as well.

6 JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  Well, I just noticed it 

7 was under client relations and that's why I asked.

8           I don't think I have anything else.

9           Mr. Crocker, did you have any redirect?

10 MR. CROCKER:  Not at this time, Your Honor.  I 

11 think everything has been laid out for you.

12 JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  All right.  Was there 

13 anything else on behalf of the company?

14 MR. CROCKER:  Not at this time.

15 JUDGE ALBERS:  All right.  If there's nothing 

16 further, then I will mark the record heard and 

17 taken.

18                  HEARD AND TAKEN.

19

20

21

22


